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)
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)




)
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)

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


Charles W. Newton filed a complaint on March 15, 2001, seeking this Commission’s redetermination of the decision of the Director of Insurance (Director) denying Newton’s application for an insurance agent license.  Newton argues that his license should be reinstated because his conduct of bankruptcy fraud was a one-time mistake.


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on July 18, 2001.  Newton presented his case.  Stephen R. Gleason represented the Director.  The matter became ready for our decision on July 27, 2001, when our reporter filed the transcript.

Findings of Fact

1. On February 5, 1996, Newton and his wife filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Missouri.  The Newtons’ bankruptcy schedules listed numerous creditors and debts totaling approximately $326,000.  The majority of 

this debt was for state and federal income taxes due to Mr. Newton’s failure to pay taxes on his income as a self-employed insurance agent.

2. The Newtons attempted to conceal valuable collectibles from the bankruptcy court.  These collectibles were kept both at their residence and at a display booth at the Bass Country Antique Mall.  Search warrants were obtained, and the FBI seized the collectibles.  The seized items were released to the bankruptcy court, and by order of the court were sold for approximately $27,000.

3. On April 18, 1997, Newton pled guilty to and was convicted of the felony of bankruptcy fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 152 in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri.  U.S. v. Newton, Case No. 6:96CR03033-001.  The court’s pre-sentence investigation report states that there was no actual loss to the victims because the assets that the Newtons attempted to conceal were liquidated by the bankruptcy court trustee.  The Court placed Newton on probation for a term of three years.

4. Newton held Missouri insurance agent License No. AT 485-34-7853 until that license was revoked by the Director on April 7, 1998, following a determination by the Administrative Hearing Commission that there was cause to discipline the license. 

5. On April 17, 2000, Newton completed his three-year term of probation for bankruptcy fraud. 

6. Newton applied for reinstatement of his insurance agent license with the Director.  The Director denied Newton’s application on February 28, 2001.  

7. On June 11, 2001, Newton signed an offer in compromise in an attempt to settle a dispute with the Internal Revenue Service concerning income tax owed by Newton.  Newton offered to pay a total of  $12,000 in installments of $500 per month for 24 months towards tax years 1987-1992, 1995, and 1997.

8. During Newton’s history as an insurance agent from 1983 to 1998, he had no convictions except for bankruptcy fraud.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to decide whether Newton is entitled to an insurance agent license.  Section 621.120.
  Newton has the burden to show that he is entitled to licensure.  Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  


We exercise the same authority that has been granted to the Director.  J.C. Nichols Co. v. Director of Revenue, 796 S.W.2d 16, 20 (Mo. banc 1990).  Therefore, we simply decide the application de novo.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  We have the same degree of discretion as the Director and need not exercise it the same way.  Id. 


Newton argues that his application should be granted because his conduct of bankruptcy fraud was a one-time mistake.  He argues that he is not a habitual criminal and that his record as an insurance agent was impeccable.  The Director alleges that Newton’s application should be denied pursuant to section 375.141.1(3) and 375.141.2, which provide in part:

 
1.  The director may revoke or suspend, for such period as he or she may determine, any license of any insurance agent, agency or broker if it is determined as provided by sections 621.045 to 621.198, RSMo, that the licensee or applicant has, at any time, or if an insurance agency, the officers, owners or managers thereof have:

*   *   *   


(3) Been convicted of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude[.]

*   *   *   


2.  The director may refuse to issue any license to any insurance agent, agency or broker if he or she determines that the licensee or applicant has, at any time . . . violated any of the provisions set out in subsection 1 of this section.

(Emphasis added.)


Newton pled guilty to and was convicted of the felony of bankruptcy fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 152, which provides in part:

A person who – 


(1) knowingly and fraudulently conceals from a custodian, trustee, marshal, or other officer of the court charged with the control or custody of . . . any property belonging to the estate of a debtor;

*   *   *  

shall be fined under this title, imprisoned not more than 5 years, or both.


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  Bankruptcy fraud is a crime involving moral turpitude.


Unless the statutes on licensure provide otherwise, a prior conviction or prior conduct cannot preclude an applicant from demonstrating that he has become rehabilitated.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. De Vore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 484 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  Therefore, we consider the nature and seriousness of the conduct and conviction; the relationship to the profession for which licensure is sought; the date of the conduct and conviction; the progress of the applicant since then; and any other evidence relating to the extent to which the 

applicant has been rehabilitated.  Id.; see also section 314.200.  The courts expect an applicant who claims rehabilitation to at least acknowledge guilt and embrace a new moral code.  Francois, 880 S.W.2d at 603.


Newton attempted to conceal assets from the bankruptcy court approximately five years ago.  He pled guilty and was convicted of the felony of bankruptcy fraud four years ago.  Fraud is a serious crime, and it is directly related to an insurance agent’s duties of collecting premium payments and acting in a fiduciary capacity for an insurance company.


The fact that Newton successfully completed his three-year term of probation weighs in favor of rehabilitation.  He acknowledges guilt with respect to his felony, and he has made an offer to settle his dispute with the IRS concerning his tax liability for tax years 1987-1992, 1995, and 1997.  However, the seriousness of the conduct, which was a deliberate pattern of conduct over an extended period of time, and the unresolved tax dispute with the IRS weigh against rehabilitation.  The documents submitted by Newton, including the pre-sentence investigation report and the offer in compromise, indicate that his failure to pay taxes on his income as a self-employed insurance agent has not yet been resolved to the satisfaction of the IRS.

Although Newton provided some evidence that he has made progress towards rehabilitation, he provided no witnesses regarding his character other than his own testimony.  The facts show that it is too soon to judge whether his efforts at rehabilitation are temporary or will be of a permanent nature.  Based on all the facts set forth in the record, we conclude that Newton has not established rehabilitation. 

The granting of a professional license “places the seal of the state’s approval upon the licentiate and certifies to the public that he possesses these requisites” of good moral character 

and good reputation for honesty and integrity.  State ex rel. Lentine v. State Bd. of Health, 

65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933).  Newton has not yet shown that the law entitles him to that seal of approval.  We therefore conclude that his application for licensure as an insurance agent should be denied.


SO ORDERED on August 15, 2001.



________________________________



SHARON M. BUSCH



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.
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